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INTROUOCTION

- Limited excavations were carried out in September 1980, by
students from the Onivaersity of Glasgow under the direction of LA, on
two sites near St Abb's Head, Coldingham: Kirk Hill (NGR NT 91 68) and
Rampart Hall (NGR MT 91 69). The objective was to locate and identify
the nature of the secular fortification implied in the seventh-century
name Colodacsburg. The research was funded by the Russell Trust, the
Bunter Archasological Trust and the University of Glasgow, This work
wag part of a larger programse of research, not on early monastic
sites, but on Early Historic fortifications in Scotland (Alcock 198la).
Trial excavations in this ressarch prograsmme have also taken place at
Dumbarton, Dundurn, Dunnottar, Dun Ollaigh, Forteviot and Urquhart,

The following report was written by 6 on the basis of preliminary
ctatemants and the Level I site reoords, but in full consultation with
LA, with whom lies ultimate responsibility for the text, It
incorporates, and ﬁcu acknow ledges, the results and conclusions of
recent survey by the staff of the RCAHMS, in particular Geoffrey Stell
and Macilyn Brown. | :

The site recordas have been deposited in the Archives of Glasgow
University, and the finds with ths Mational Wuseums of SBcotland, The

dresngd stores (finds oat nos X0-33) wore reburied an site.




The earliest reference to Colodaeshurg appears to be in Eddius's

Life of Wilfrid (VW 39), where he tells of the Northusbrian king and

queen coming to the monastery gquod Coledaesburg dicitur, 'which is
callad "Colud's fort or town™ and 'over which presided a very discrete
abbegg called Aebbe, the sister of King Oswiu', Bede, writing rather
later about the double monastery of St Aebbe, calls it Coludi urbs in
both the Eccleslastical History (HE iv, 19; 1iv, 25) and in hie Life of
St Cuthbert (VP 10). The implication would seem to be that the

monastery had originally been a fortified place -burg in O1d English,
urbs in Latin - which had subsequently been made over to the church
(see Campbell 1975b, 43 for comparison of “he use of burg and urks by
Eddius and Bede)., Reculver in Kent, Bradwell-on-Sea in Essex, and
Burgh Cagtle, Norfolk, are other Anglo-Saxon examples of this practice,

while in Ireland 5t Mochaoi's monastery at Nendrum, Co Down, 1is a
probable example of a religious foundation set within an carlier
fortification (Lawlor 1525).

Alcock (1981a) originally congsidered that the first fort would
have bson & British, not an Anglo-Saxon work, because there ia little
interest in hill-forts or other fortified places until the burh-
building of late Saxon times, and cartainly no evidence at all that the
sarly Anglo-Saxons built fortifications (Alcock 1978; but see below).
Against this it might be argued that tha Anglo~Saxon Chronicle for the
year AD 547 gives an apparently circusstantial acoount of the building
of Bamburgh by 1da, ficst Anglian ruler of Bernicia. This, we are
told, was ficst dafended with a hedge or palisude, and subsequently
with a wall. But Huontsr Blair long ago pointsd ocut that the account of
1de building Bambucgh is 'a tradition where existing M8 evidence is not
older than the eleventh century', and adduced other reasons for
soepticism (1954, 147-9}, '

- On the other hand, the ninth-ceatury Historia Brittonum (HB},
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which in this case incorporates earlier british sources (Jackson 1963),
provides a British name for Bamburgh: Dinquoaroy. The din- element
clearly implies a fort; and from this it is a reasonable inference
that Bamburgh was a pre-Anglian, British promontory fort which was
8¢ized by Ida or granted to him at a formative stage in the Bernician
dynasty (Alcock 198la; bj.

Returning to Colodaesburg; there was every reason to believe that
this likewlse wag a pre-Analian, British fort, although ite name, as it
hag come down to us, is certainly not British, It does not help to
suggest that Colud or Colod is the personal nawe of its builder, since
we have no record of such a person. It might be that Colodaesburg is a
translation of a British form Caer Golud, as Crawford (1934) suggested.
Crawford himself had found Caer Golud in the Book of Taliesin, and he

therefore considered this to be a reference goinjy back to the late
sixth or ocarly seventh century, But the poem in which the 1lines
‘except geven, nohe returned from Caer Golud! occur had been ramoved as
early ag 1918 fram the corpus which scholars of early Welsh poetry were
prepared to regard as the suthentic work of the bard Taliesin (Morrie—
Jonea 1918); nor has more recent work restored it (Williams 1968).
Moreover, Jackson was doubtful about this equation anyway, because Caer
Golud occurs along with several other Caer naxes which appeur to
repressnt the Celtic Otherworld (Jackson 1959, 15-6). Thus this poetic
reference is of no historical assistance.

1f we accept that Urbs Coludi was originally a British fort, we
have & preliminary clue about the kind of site we should be seeking.
The literary sources add further hints. The sea-shore must be
sufficiently accessible for Cuthbert to have gone down at night to
immerse himself in the sea 'above whose shores the sonastery was
built', as Gede tslls us that he did in his Life of that saint (VP 10).
Bede's source was an anonymous Life of the saint, written at
Lindisfarne (VA), which Colgrave (1940,4) considers fairly reliable,
wvith its Jongtant references to places and pegple known to the original




reader. Moreover, the fort must have been large enough to have

enclosed the structures of a double monastery. Bede again refers to
it lofty muildings, aedificia i111ius sublimiter erecta (HE iv, 25),
which appear to have included both public and private ones. There

would certainly have been a church, or one or more oratories, Bede

rentions also individual cells and sleeping places, sinqulorum casas et

lectos, as well ag 'little houses for praying or reading', domunculae
qude ad orandum et legendum factae sunt. Admittedly this description
is axbedded in a miracle story, and one may suspect a strong element of

literary convention, although Bede guotes as his source a fellow priest
called Eadgisl, who had actually lived in the monastery at
Colodaesburg. Cramp certainly finds here a valid account of a seventh—
century monastery combining communal buildings and individual cells
(Cramp 1976, 206-7).

According to the Anglo-Saxon Chronicle (Text E, e.a 679) and Pals
(HE iv, 25) the monastery of St Aebbe was destroyed by ‘divine fire',
elthar fire or lightning., After this, according to Bede, the monastery
wag deserted by most of itg inhabitants because it was in ruins.

Plummer (1899, II, 31) considers 679 too early for the destruction of
the monastery (Cede, Florence of wWorcester and Henry of Huntingdon all
omit the date), There are two pointers to a later date. Pirstly,
Eddius (VW 39) relatss how during the visit of Ecgfrith and his gqueen
(Eormenburh, not Aethelthryth who had retired to Colodassburgy in 672),
the quesn was taken ill, and only after the king had been persuaded to
releases Bishop Wilfrid from imprisonment did she recover, Since
"Wilfrid had not basn imprisonsd until 680 (Colgrave 1527, 174) the
mOnAstery must have been in existence at this time. Becondly, Bede
declares that the fire at Colodsssburg did not take place until after
_Mbbc't death (HE iv, 25) and she was still alive in 681 (Colgrave
1927, 174) or 683 (Anderson 1908, 39). Honetheless, it seems likely
that the destruction occurced not laong atisr 681,

Pinally, Matthew of Paris refers s.a. 870 to s Viking attack by




Imgquar ard Hubba on a monastery at Coldiraham, which was presided over
by an abbess named Aeblbe (Anderson 1908, 61-2). Matthew's source was

the Flores Historiarum of Poger Wedover, his predecessor at St Albans.

The ultimate source of these thirteenth—century reports is unknown, but
no reliability can bte placed upon this account, which is undoubtedly
slmply a hagiographical toros; Smyth (in litt to SF) considers that
this account of the fate of the Coldinghar nuns is similar to the very
late account of Irnguar's Vikina attack on Crowland, in rme Chronicle of

Crowland.

TOPOGRAPHICAL IDENTIFICATION OF (DLODAESBURG

In seeking to identifv the aeneral location of the monastery there
are two main cluees, Fitstly, there .s the name Colodaegburg. wWhilst
there is no modern place with the name, Nicolaisen has shown that
Coldingham uitymatoly derives from it (Nicolalsen 1976, 20-1: 72-3).
Secondly, Bede writes of the monasterium Aebhae abbatissae (HE (v 19),

aebbe is, in fact, the only historically documerted abbegs of the
monastery. It can therefore be no colnclidence that St Abb's village
and headland lie just to the nporth of Coldingham village; chey
indicate a site somewhere in this vicinity.

It ls cunsidered by some (eg Thomason 1977) (hat Coldingham, with

its twelfth-century priory, could have been Colodaesburg. Ninth-

century finds, Including a croes-ghaft with interlace (Glen 1876) and a
poesible eighth-century inscribed sandstcne block (Noble 1973), nave
been discovered in the vicinity of the Priory. There {8 no doubt that
a monastery was established there, probably after the late seventh-
century fire, but Coldirgham Priory, which is spproximatelv two km from
the msea, could not f{t Rede's description of Urbs Coludi.

Our attantion is thus focused ¢n the vicinity of St Abb's Head,
which is located at the easterly end of the lLasmermuir Hills 7111lus

11}, The general topography consists of lowlands with ge:tle and



ILLUS 1\ Location map for Coldingham, Kirk Hill and
Rampart Hall. Uther forts and settlemants
0f the pre-Roman Iraon Age are aleo indicated.
(Based on the 0S5 1:2%00 map,
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complex glojes, slightly to moderately rocky, with a soil cover of
drifte derived from the Lower Paleozoic greywackesgs and shales., Fecent
urvey ascribes the land to type 52, and only suited to grasslands and
rough grazirg. However, the adjzcent land around mearby Colidingham and
St Abb's village (type 31) is of better quality. (Bown and Shipley
1982).

Over the past century, the identification of St Aebbe's monastery,
enshrined on the 0.5. map, has been with 'Rampar” Hall', a fortified
coastal promontory approximately 0,3 km north-west of St Abb's Head
lighthouse (NGR NT 91 69) (11lue 12). The major building now visible,
of rectangular plan and locai rubble, appears on the 0.5. 112,500 map
ag 'St Abb's Nunnery, remalns of', It hags long been considered to be a
chapel of the eeventh or later centuries (MacGibbon and Ross 1896, I,
437). This i{dentification was endorsed, for instance, by O G S
Crawford, who gaw the defence—work as a sub-Roman mortared wall
(Crawford 1934, 203). A C Thoras also accepted the {dentification
(Thomas 1971, 35-6).

‘Rampart Hall' is, as stated above, a coastal promontory with a
comparatively narrow neck. This is traversed by a dry and partly rock-
cut ditch, behind which the ground level rises to a gently roundad
creat and afterwards falls away to seaward, flanked by high and quite
inacosssible cliffs along which no additional defences have been noted,
There is no indication of a water supply nor evidence of intensive use
of the interior ground for building, enclosure or cultivation (ASM
Becwicks, item 516); low banks and scatters of story debeis indicate
only a fow leaser buildings or enclosures,

Three main problems are posed by the identification of this wite
a8 Colodeesburg.

(1) T™he promontory seems too small, andthe smount of level

ground altogether too restricted to hold a double monastery.

{i1) Aoccess to the sea as required by Bede's story about

Cuthbecrt 1s imposaibls,
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(1ii) The supposed remaing of St Abb's nunnery have been
independently igentified by the Alcocks (Alcock and Alcock
1981,2) and the staff of the Royal Commigsion (ASH Brrwicks,
item 516) as a later madieval hall rather than an
eccleslastical buildirg.

Aidan MacDonald has pointed out (in 1itt. to LA) that before che

Ordnance Survey's identification, the traditional gite had actually
been Kirk Hill, 530m SE of the lighthouge of 5t Abb's Head (NGR NT 91
68). The local name is gsaid to be *'The Purgh'. Here a Romano~British
rim gherd, dated 150-250 AD (Hogg 1945) and a fragment of glass bangle
(DES 1967, 17) had been picked up. A H A Hogg (1945) had discovered
this gite in about 1944 and considered it a more probable candidate for
Cair Golud' than the wastarly cite with the mocrtared wall,

Kirk Hill occupies the gcummit of a hill which rises to a height of
79w 0D, with the eastern side formed by vertical cliffs rising over €¢0m
from the sea and the landward side consisting of steep grassy slopes
with some rocky outcrops. All sides plunjge off steeply, creating a
naturally defended area of about three ha of fairly level groumd; no
great works would have been required to defend such a site, At the
break of slope, the whole circult, cliff edge to Cliff edge (save for
entrances within a few metres of the clitf at each end) is marked by
traces of a rampart, appacently backed by a quaccy ditch; whare the
rampart was no longer visible in profile the different types of
vegetation indicated its line. It is also e¢vident on aarial
photographs (ASH Berwicks, jitem 449). In addition, before excavation,
pretruding lines of stones, tussockv vegetation, bare patches of
eroding rampart core and intsnsive rabbit-burrowing, all bore witness
to a massive bank,

T™he aise of the Kirk Nill enclosure was cbviously suitable for the
sxtanaive but unsystematic lsyout which might be expected at an early
Aglisn monastery (Cramp 1974; ®Rahts 1976), Moreover, quantities of
mctar (nsolehills on a level platfoca immediately nocth of the summit

1 : b1l
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indicated the former presence of mascnry buildings, additional to the
known remalna of St Abb's medieval kirk and its enclosure (ASM
Berwicke, item 449). Finally, at the scuth-east corner of the site
there was ready access to a shingle beach; Cuthbert oould have reached
a convenlent cove in less than five minutes, All thete factors made
Kirk Rill seen a more likely candidate for St Aeblbe's monastery and the
preceding Colodaeshurg.

Before excavation it was evident that the situation and form of
the enclosing rampart were in ke=ping with a pre-Anglian, Britigh
cliff-cagtle. Some of the ocoupation, suggested by nettles, might have
belonged to this rather than to the Anglian wonastery. Signirficant
here is Hogg's discovery of a Romano-British coarse ware rim,
apparently datable 150-250 AD, an Kirk Hill (Hogg 1945). This makes it
posgible tha: we have here not an Early Historic fortification, but
rather a work initially of the pre-Raman or Roman Iron Age, which was
derelict whsn St Aebbe, Oor her predecessor, founded the xonastery.

THE 1960 ERCAVATIONG

TR FIRFOX OF TIR DIOWATIONS

The object of the <xcavations was to establish whether or not
there had been a pre~-monastic fortification, either a British cliff
castle of pre-koman or post-Roman date or an Anglian fortified
settlement (yrby, burg), on either of tha two auggested sites,
Implicit in this was the examination of Crawford's remarkable claim
{1934, 203) that the western promontory, Rampart Hall wes defended by
mortared masontry of sub-Roman ﬁto. In addition, the claim of the
rectangular building at Raspart Aall to be St Asbbe's nunnery wes to be
examined,

Excavations were therefoce carcied out in thres areas:

(A) the lnrwqd wall of Paapart Nall o

+
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(B) the building within it

(C) acrosa the rampart and supposed Quarry ditch of Kirk Hill,

Owirng to the unexpectedly large size of the Kirk Hill raspart, by
far the wmajor effort was devoted to that site,

A THE [EFENCES AT BAMFART BALL

The mar-tade defenceg here are of some pretensions (illus 3, 12);
the Royal Commission estimates the ditch to be at maximm c. 9m (30ft)
broad and about 40m (130ft) in length. At the E end the rock-cut face
rices to a height of some 3Im above the bottom of the silted ditch,
There 18 no clear evidence of an entrgnce, but the Royal Commisgion
suggests tnat » slight depression and spread of material E of centre
may mark its position. Two upstanding sections of mortared rubble
walling exist on the W half of the innar lip of the ditch. At the MW
end of the ditch is a substantial fragment c. 2,5a (8ft) wide, founded
directly on the bedrack, It has & well-pressrved rear face and traces
of a front face, However, it was across part of the eastern section, a
discontinuous stretch of facework, that trench 200 was located, in
order to examire the walling and the area immediately bshind it. The
trench was ciaentially 7 by 2.5m, but with a 1 by 058 extension alang
the E side (111us 13). The area behind the rampart was only partly
excavated,

Set into a slight trench, cut into a natural tough clay (205), was
a raft of two courses of rubble embedded in a clay matrix (204). This
was c. 2.8m (3ft) wide, aprwoximat:ly the sime width as the unencavated
western block of mesonry. 1t wes carsfully faoed, both front and ress,
with large boulders. Above this, and conforming with its leading edge
was a vall of poorly mortared coarse rubble (206), c. 0.6 (2ft) wide.
Bill-wmsh (301, 202) had developed an either side of the raspart, Mo
finds were cecoweced.
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LIST OF FEATURES 1M TRFNCH 200, ST AEB'S BEAD
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l_..:. N Il1lus 13
i § = Section P = Plan
fie ® 201  Stiff brown hillwash (S).
L 202 = 201 (8).
':. 203 Bright red, compact clay with chippy inclusions. Redeposited
iy, I natural (S).
:_- . 204 Raft of gtones (rubble core, faced front and rear), up to two
19
= courses high, in matrix of bright red stone—free clay (5,P).
'. N 205 Natural orange-red, compact clay (5,P).
ah
'_:',_ . 206 Stone wall with limestone mortar matrix (S,P).
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DISCIEEION

Two interpretations are possible. (A} This is a unitary, but
unfinished work, originally intended as a sasonry wall, about 2.8m
(9ft) wide, acroes the promontory; it was to be founded on solio rock
at the exposed corner above the western ravine (and perhape the castern

| precipice as well), but elsewhere was to be based on a clay-bound raft;

a foundation of rubble in a clay-matrix, Eitler, only part of the raft
and tha MONTy wall was ever completed; or, if it had been campleted,
its subsequent destruction, decay or quarrying were ¢xtensive, (B)
This is a wock of three perloda: (1) a clay-bound wall (204}, an early
{perhaps prehistoric) defence of the promontory; (2) an unfinished
wall c. 2.5m (8ft) wide represented by the western block of masonry
{unexcavated); (3} a feeble mortared wall (206) across the middle of
the neck of the promontory. Since there 1s no clear difference between
the mortar uged in the magsonry elemsnts of (2) and (3), it is therefore
likely that (3) is a reduced continuation of (2), Morsover, the widths
of elements (1) and (2) are approximately the same, while (3) used the
leading edge of (1) as its own face~line. These similarities betwoen
the three elements are so strong as to argue in favour of A, ie that
this was a unitary wxk, pcobably contesgporary with the so-called St
Abb's Nunnery (see below).

B 8T Ae'S MIeEmY
The so—called S5t Abb's Munnery is the principal surviving building

on the peamontory (111us 14). It occupies a site that slopes along its
main axis from 8 to ME, and although it stands close to the sesvard

tip of the pramontory, it has 8 celatively sheltared position, partly

protected by a ridge of rock along the MW £lank, It is of elongated

rectangular plan with an integral offaet or pcojection at the lower ME
-end, “Prom its position and shape this projection oould have served

T
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either as a latrine-chambar; or more likely, in the view of Stell and
Brown, as a kitchen ingle, for which there are other known parallels in
south-sastern Scotland,

This NE ¢nd ig baced on what appears to be a revetted platform,
but this may in part represent an sccumulation of midden deposita, The
beilding's surviving walls, of local random rubble, either dry-stone or
clay-bound (0S5 Record Card NT 96 MW 6), survive as well-defined
footings just over about 1o (c. 4ft) in average width. The :>rral
Commisslon suggests two ertrances, one towards the S end of the NW
side-wall and possibly another towmarda the N end of the opposite wall.
The SW end wall stands to a paximux internal height of 0.75m (¢, 2ft 6
in), and it was across this that trench 100 was located to test the
nature of a suppossed tomb recess, The trench meagured 4 x im

The principal excavated feature was awall (10675 illus 14) of
dry or clay-bound rubble about 1.6m {5ft 3in) wide. It wag laid in a
trench cut into the sloping subgoil, with an outer facing of heavy,
well-laid blocks, but the cote consisted of rubble, 1Into this was set
a rectangular recess (107) c, 0.8m (2ft 8in) deep, Although there was
no avidence of burning, this was interpreted as ¢ xural fire~place (see
below). Tha arrangement of the walling around this recess, and the
presence of mortar (108) apparently not used anywhere else in the
building, sugpest that this was an addition to an otherwise clay-tound
wall, The mortar was not inconsistent with that used in the rampart
wall (sese above), and it is probable that both wall and building are
contemporary.

To either side of the wall, but especially in the interior of the
huilding, lay a tumble of stones (102, 103) analogous in size to the
wall {tself, and cbviously representing the collapsed dsbris of some
part of the building.
| Both wall and debris lay directly on a weathsred bedrock of
clean, dense, stiff, chippy clay (105) with no signs of trampling or
othes usage. From this 4t 1s inferced that the building origlaslly had




a flagged floor, and that on its abandonoent the flags were lifted. It
is therefore not surprising that the receas yieldad no evidence for use
a8 a fireplace or for any alternative function, This trench produced
no finds.




Trench 100 - plan

ILLUS 14 St Abb's Head,

1
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LIST OF FEATURES IN THENMCI 100, ST AHB'S HEAD

11lue 14  (fiche | :E5)

P = Plan

101 Red-hwrown friable soll extending over whole trench. Hill-wagh.

102 Concentration of pitched blocks, within 101, to exterior of
building., Structural collapse outside building.

103 Quarried stone of varying size, within matrix of a firm, sticky
8ilty-clay incorporating rounded ORS fragments, Structural
collapse into building interior.

104 Under 101 and 102, & stiff, red clay containing a concentration
of amall broken pebble fragments, Natural to exterior of building (P).

105 = 104, Natural clay inside building (P).

106 GStone wall, laid in a trench, with outer facing of heavy, well-
laid blocks, and core of rubble (P).

107 Inset recess in 106 (c. 0.8m deep), faced with a double thickness
of worked stones, In & mortar matrix (108) (P).

108  Mortar matrix.

1 : E&




SIBOUBETIO

There 18 no justificat.cn for considering 'St Abb's Nunnery' to be
an ecclesiagstical rather than a secular bullding. The recess is alooet
certainly a fire-place and not a toab recess, a8 has noketimes been
suggested. Indeed, the building has every indication of being a late
madieval hall rather than an early Chrigtian monastic buiilding,
although the ground-floor hall is an .nusual form in Scotland,

Taking into account the landward defences, and the unusual
dispersed layout (there are surface indications of several lesser
buildings or enclogures on the gite (1llus 12j}, the Royal Commission
congiders that the site possesses a number of characteristics
reasonably familiar in a late or sub~medieval context, and that in
their exigting forxm the visible reczains are those of a defanded
promontory-refuge, ascribable perhaps to the latter half of a broad
1300~-1600 date-range. Parallels are drawn between this site and Fast
Castle, another promontory site (NT 86 71) some 5.5 km to the NwW.
Although this was more intensively used in the late and sub-medieval
pecriods, it nevertheless shares similarities in gemneral character and
setting., Apart from the record that Rampart Hall (assuming tiat it has
been corcectly identified) was ruinous in 1771 {(ASM Berwicks no 516),
no documentary evidance is known for the site. Thise is not to say,
however, that investigations by a historian in this field might not
come yp with further relevant inforeation,

C KX EILL

A trench 19.8m lony was sited across the WM gector of the Kick
Bill rampart, its supposed internal quarcy ditch and a part of the
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ILLUS 1% Kirk Hill:




interior (il1lus 15). Although laid out to a width of 2m, it was only

excavated to the full width in order to explore pacticular features
{(illus 17). Por much of the trench, only a 2m width was excavated;
because of the unexpected scale of the work, the deeper parts of the
trench were anly 1m wide. Inevitably, it mset be stressed, thercfore,
that both obgcrvation and interpretation are even more tenuous than i
nrmal when data are derivad from a single cross-rampart cutting.

Threc, (or poseibly five), phaseg of activity on the ramparts were
noted (illus 16). These can be summarised as follows:

Period 1 The construction of either a double palisade or two
successive single wooden paligaces.

Period 2 The construction of a massive turf rampart with a
toe of dressed blocks, superimposed on the ruing
of Periocd 1. As a subsidiary phase, 28, a stone
revetzent was added at the front.

Pericd 3 A second revetment or wall was constructed near the
crest of the turf rampart.

MNMALT PENICD 1

Extending under the rampart, and lying directly on top of the ORS
Lava bedrock was a dark, organically=-rich soll with a good crumb
structure (122, 213, 221). This was possibly a cultivation layer,
deapite the fact that it was free of plough-erodsd bedrock washing down
the slope.

Cut through the 'cultivation layer' and into the bedrock were two
clear palisade trenches (i1lus 16). The lower of these (214), palisade
B (phass 1A), had a slightly irregular cutline, but averasged about
400am wide and 280mm deep. Aligned and well-spaced packing stonss can
along the upper side of the slot, which had a compact atony fill, The
packing stones were undisturbed, suggesting that the posts had cottad

.
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Interpretation of rampart section on Kirk Hill
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in situ. Glightly to the rear of this slot was a single sub~-
rectanqular rock—cut hole (215) with a dark fill, measuring c.320 by
430m and 250mm in depth, Ite rear =«ide was vertical, but the opposite
side sloped diagonally towards the forward slot. This had probably
held a post which braced the front revetment, A second, parallel, slot
{223), paligade A (phase 1B), wag discovered C.5.1m away, at the break
of slope. This was c.440mn wide by B00xm deep, and had a more gravelly
fill, It was cut not only through the cultivation layer, but through a
superimposed layer of dark brosn clayey eoll with some concantrations
of pebbles (124, 216, 218). This formed a low bank on the crest of the
natural slope: most probably a 1 mchet. Alternatively, a bank was
constructad around the palisade posts to reinforce them on the line of
the upper palisade. Such low banks are known in association with .
double paligades, for instance at Harehope (Feachem 1962, fig 7 and
below). At the bottom of this layer was a concentration of small
pebbles, probably the result Of worp-sorting of the ploughaed horizon.

It i not clear whether thage two trenches represent succcssive
fingle palisades, or a single-phase double palisade. It 1 apparent,
howsver, that the upper palissde had been destroyed by fire, whereas
there wat no such evidence for buining (n the front palisade. Although
the evidence from a dm trench is not necessarily representative of the
whole length of the defencea, this would suggest that two sucosssive
palisades are represented; but there is no evidence as to which is
older, The dark upper fill of tha teature (219} contained some
charcoal, and a hard-packed black soil (205} with large quantities of
charcoal lay slumped {n front of the slot, and may represent debris,
albeit of & somewhat limited nature, from the collapss of the burnt
palisade, A smmple of ,2009 of mined charcoal was collected for
radiocacbon dating, This wes analysed and {dentified by Wrs Camilla
Dickson (Appendix 1).

The charocal consisted predominantly of o - ru  [osk), from both

stems of hrsachee and also large timbers: 4  Adition there was
e w
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Corylua (hazel), Salix (willow) and Betula (birch) and also some
unidentified small fragments. The oak had probably formed the main
structural timbers for the palisade, Two hypotheses are suggested for
the mixed smaller fragments: (1) they were a wattle infilling between
the lerge structural timbers; (ii) they were brushwood employed in the
dastruction of the tiwber palisade.

RADIOCANSON DATING

A sample of cak (31lg) was counted separately, while the resainder
of mixed charcoal provided two dates.

GJ-1387  Charcoal (Quercus) 1395 + 60 570~760 AD
§13ct -25.6%/c0

GU-1388  Mixed charcoal 1285 + 60 610~880 AD
§13¢: -25.7%/00

GU-1389  Mixed charccal 1265 + 60 615-885 AD

513(21 -25.7%/00

All dates were calculated on the 5568 half-life and calibrated to
the Z-sigma, 95% oertainty, lewel using Klein et al 1982,

1t is likely that the ocak came from large structural tisbers, and
the ot'wr woods from lighter infilling, which would be consistent with
the older date for the Quercus sample. Thus in seeking the true date
for the palisade (223) the Quercus date can be ignored. Radiocarbon
dates give an estinate of the date, in years bp, at which an organism
disd, Maturally, in a hroad timbec, such as an oak beam, parts of the
tree ha 'e been dying each year, and thus a date derived from it will
vre gccording to which part of the tree the sasple came from.
Bowaver, the timber used for the lighter infilling of the palisade
would have besn felled whilst still young Thus there would be less
likelihood of any discrepency betwesn ary dates derived from it, and
the date of felling, and by inference the constructian of the palisade,
If the two Qiher datas, being from ong semple, are averaged (using

1 El2
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Gillespie 1984), they give 1275 + 85 bp at the * 21-sigma level. If
this is then calibrated, using Klein et al 1982, then at the 2-sigma
level we have a date-bracket of 590-900 AD, The implications of this
date are diecussed below,

HRPART PERICD 2

Mot long after the destruction of the Period 1 palisades a rampart
of turf vas constructed (Phase 2A). A tom of tightly pitched stones
(206), may of them quarry-dressed sendstone blocks, was bedded into
213, a metre or 80 behind where the original forward palisade had
stood. The dressed stones included an example with the remains of two
sockets along one edge, and another with an obligue rebate (finds cat
nos 30-9; 1ilius 8). Above this a rampart of turf and clay was
constructed (110, 123, 203, 204, 211); orange clayey goils and lomms
a2lternated with humic bande of turf. Stonss, some of them quite large,
were incorporated into the make~up., The rear of thic rampart, which
axtended over 3m further back than the rear pslisade of Deriod 1, was
contained by a boulder kerb consisting of a band of stones running
across the trench (121). In addition, the rear was reinforced by &
clay capping {117), some of which subsequently eroded over tha kerb.
At the outer face of the rampart, in front of the stone toe, a compact
orangey soll (209) accumulated, possibly the morte eroded remains of a
similar capping (but possibly related to the phase 2B repaics - mee
below). This rampart was of a considerable size: its overall width
was Gm and its overall height, even in the present eroded state, is
over 3m. It is suggested below that the construction of this bank
reaulted in the large-scele stripping of turves fram the hill, and this
mey therefore account for the thin soil cover in the intecior.

At some time during Period 2, layers (119, 120) bagan to
accumilate beshind the bank, the result of the erocaion of the bank

itaslf, and miblx,ctlm-r ovltivation,
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At some stage it became neCessary to refair the froat af the
Period 2A turf-stack rampart. One, or in places two, courses of )coe
boulders traversed the trench (207; Pericd 23; 1llus 9). Siven the
steepoass of the slope, howsver, there had presunably Leen furiher
courses originally; thess may have been resoved, or pushed Jdown the
hill. The saogestad clay cagping (209) may belang to this stage or to
the ollapee from the Period A congtruction.

BMMEAET BENND 3

At a later siage, 2 second 'tepair' took place (210). Tha cut
for thie, with its £ill of loose weathared brown lomm (224) wes clearly
. vigible, A line of large boulders ran actoas the treach; below it was
/ a grop of mmaller stones which might have fallen from the vall face.
Wather thease stones wele the lowar courses of a stone wall, or simply
a revetmant could not be ascertaimed,

To the rear of the rampart, thare wac no true quarry ditch, but
the turf in this sarea was Buch thinser than elsswhare in the trench,
and it is evident that sods had busn atripped off a btroad sooe in order
to provide rampact material for Pericd 2. Y 1ot of soil cover wves
undoubtedly exacarbated by subesguant aatural ercsion eshaaced by
ploughing.

Bohind the rampart, several features ware sotad cut iato the
badcock (i1llus 17). Theee compriwed seweral ssb-rectargulac post-bolas
(108, 109, 111, 112, 125) varyisng in dapth from 180 to (50mmy a
concantration of charosal behind 112 (115); a trissgular depreasion
with & stony £ill (106), 104ap deep, each side ¢.3Mme lony; aad
S1ot (113) of irregular width (2480-130am wide, 1 700> deap) which ran
axons the |

mlhlhthm Omp of itp tarnissls we

Y
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uncovered, and projecting northwards from part way along the slot, and
almost at right angles, was a short section of a wider slot (380—-450mm
wide, 210mn deap). Tha fill was an orangey=brown 801l with pebblea. It
{8 {mpossible to agcribe these Intecnal stcuctural features to any
contemporary phase of rampart construction (indeed, the digparate
techniques of trench-oulilt walls and separate earth—fagt poats probably
represent two periods of bullding activity). Parallel with gslot 1i3,
but dicectiy behind the raspart, extendod a line of stones (1G7), about
700-950mm wide. This is interpreted as the dry-stone gill for a
horizontal tisber beam, one side of a btuilding the opposite side of
which has been ploughed away (note the extent of the later rig and
furrow on {11us 15). Thig feature {@ ascribable to a phase after the

construction, and perhaps even after severe erosion, of the Period 2

turf rmmpart,
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LIST GF FIATEES IN TRECH 100/200, KIRK HILL

Illus

17 (fiche 1:F3-3)

£ = Section P = DPlan

101 =
102 =
103
104
105
106
107

108

109
110 =

111
112

113

115
116
117
118
us

120
121
112 »

201 Turf (8)

202 Priable loam with small pebbles. weathered top-soil (5).
Rooty loam with numerous small pebbleae, same charcoal (6).
Waatherod ORS Lava (S).

ORS Lava bedrock (S,P).

Stony eoil., Triangular depression.

sandy 90il with densely packed stones (beach cobbles and angular
slabg} and charcoal., UDry-stone sill for 7timber-beam (S,P)

Dark clayey s0il with small concentration of charcoal. Post-hole
(P).

Brown clay s0il with a few pebbles. Poat-hole (P).

123, 203, 204, 211, Alternating layers of turf and orange soll,
some stones. Turf raspart (5).

Pebble-free soil, Post-hole (P).

Clayey soil with chippy stones and packing stones surround,
Post-hole (P)

Orangey-brown earth with pehbles, some charcoal, Building slot
(8,P).

Crarcoal concentration behind 112.

Pinkish clay with ssall psbbles. Natural feature behind 112,
Compact ocange clay, Capplng for turf campart (5).

Winkle collection in 119,

Dark bxosm-black losm, ash and charcosl at base, ?7Erosion of
turf campart (8)

Streaky orange layer. 7Zrosion of turf rampart (8),

Band of boulders, Kerb for turf rampart (8).

221, 213. Oark grey loam, Cultivation layer (8).
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123= 110, 203, 204, 211. Gandy soil including turf stack. Turf
campart (S).

124 = 216, 218. Dark brown clayey soil. Low bank, either lynchet or
man-made bank (S).

125 Poet-hole (P},

201 = 101 (S).

202 = 102 Sandy woil with sxall roots, pebbles at base, Weathered
top-s0il (S).

203 = 110, 123, 204, 211, Light brown congolidated loam, with very
omall pebbleg, Turf rampart (S).

204 = 110, 1273, 203, 211, Compact orange clayey 80il, with charcoal,
incorporating several turf stacks., Turf rampart (S5).

205 Compact black layer with numerous plecoa of charcoal,
Degtruction debris of palisade 222 (5).

206 Large pitched slabs, mainly dressed sandstone, with sooe
surrounding charcoal. Toe cof dresced stones (S).

07 Line of large boulders forming one or two courses. Remains of
front revetzent to clay and turf rampart (5,P).

208 Matural dark soil with chippy pebbles (5).

209 Compact orange clayey soll. ?Cagping for turf rampart (G5).

210 wall of large boulders. Probably late enclosure wall (5,P).

211 = 110, 123, 203, 204. Large angular stones, including thin slabs,
dispersed in curf layer with some charcoal. Turf rampart (5,P).

412 Sandy loam with numerous small chips, pebbles and same charcoal
(8).

213 = 221, 122, Dark, rich humic soll with chippy stones and much
charcoal. Cultivation layer (5).

214 Compact layer, variety of soils and clay, with ordered packing
atonss and mumerous chippy pesbbles. Palisade trenc (5,P).

215 Dark soil, Post~hole for rear brace (8).

1 : F8



216 = 124, 218, FRubble, comprising beach cobbles and angular stongs,

217 =
218

219

224

very compact in places. Some charcoal, Low bank, either
lynchet or man-made (S).

?123, Sandy soil including turf stack. Turf campart,

Dark brown clayey soil. Low bank, either lynchet or man—made
(S).

Dark grey so0il with some charcoal. Upper fill of palisade trench
223 (8).

Loosely packed cobbles concantrated in W side of trench at crest
of rampart. ‘

213, 122, Light, grey, humic soll. Cultivation layer (8).
Light brown sandy soil with charcoal flecks and guall patches of
clay. Directly below 216, in front of 210.

Chippy, angular and rounded stones in matrix, Palisade trench,
lower fill (5).

Loose, weathered brown loam. Fill of cut for wall 210 (5).

1t B9




THE FINDS FROM KIRK HILL

The description of each find is preceded by its context number ard
special finds register number, Wwhere applicable a discussion follows a
particular category of finds; ultimately there is a more general

discuseion,

With the exception of no 3, a clay bead or spindle-whorl, none of
these pileces was worthy of illustration,

1. KH 102, SF 003, Coarse sandy fabric, buff exterior, orange-red
core, with vestiges of glaze (colour unrecognisable), 7Late
medieval small jug.

2. ¥H 119, SF 023, Much abraded, handrmade, fine black sandy ware,
fired under reducing conditions.

3. KH 119, SF 019, 1llus 18, Clay bead or spindle-whorl of buff
sandy fabric with reduced core, }

4, KH 119, SF 025, Indeterminate, much abraded, handmade, black
sandy 7burnished ware, fired under reducing conditions,

5 Ki 209, SP 004, well-fired, whael-thrown, sandy ware with smooth
buff exterior (?with slight traces of slip) and grey core. Body
shard of late medieval vessql,

6. KH 213, 5P 041, Samian, Dr 33 or Dr 18/31. Body sherd, probably
of platter (Dr 18/31), split longltudinally (identified by L.J.F,
Keppie).

7. KH 219, 8P 037. Orange/buff coatse sandy fabric., Body sherd of
?large Roman jar.

The identification of no 3, s5” 019 is a problen, 1Its size and
form suggest a spindle=whorl, but its slightly icregular shape may
preclude such a functiony a clay bead suggests itself as the obvious
alternative, Clay beads are known fram Iron Age contexts, such as the
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Glastonbury Lake Village (Bulleid and Gray 1917, 560), although these
tend to be much emaller in &lze. This example is probably residual
fram earlier activity in the vicinity.

Sherds nos 2 and 4, SF 023 and SF 025, are obviously prehistoric,
but are 50 small and abraded that any finer distinction is very
difficult, Wo 5 SF 004 was mogt difficult to find any parallel for:
G R laggerty, however, (inlitt to LA) is fairly confident that it is
iate medieval, He woild guess it belongs with the group of sand
tempered fabrics, their origins seemingly in London and the Thames
valley area, which were being traded along the east coast of Scotland,
a trade at its peak Iin the twelfth century, This sherd was recovered
from KH 209, which wae assumzed to be the clay capping for the turf
rampart, in Pertod 2, Decause of ercsion and burrowling, however, it is
dourful whether any reliance can be placed on its location, as was
indeed the case with the stratification of most of the Kirk Hill finda,

-

I1lus 18, Pinds from Xirk Hill.3, bead or spindle whorl of fired clay.
9, segmanted bexd, darx blue glase. 10, segrent fram foll-
in—glass baad. 14, corper-alloy ingata,

GLASS

8, Unatratified, SF )11. Splinter of light blue glass.

9, K4 102, S 001, 1llus 18, Dark blue double sagmented bead with
faint longitudinal striations and pinched 'waist’,

10, FH 102, 8 002, {11lus 18, Single globular saction of a segeented
bead, Clear glase with white metal (?silver) foll {nset,

11, W 121, 8F 031, Splinter of hlue qlase, ?body shard,

11 Rl3



Two glass beads were recovered from the top goll. One (no 9

{1luy 18) was a dark blue double segmented example (Guido 1378, fig 37,

type 3). Segmented beads were not common until the Roman pericd (the
earliest British example 18 second-century AD), and their popularity
grew during the late Poman and post-Roman period (ibid, 91-2; Boon
1977). Examples have been found in Scotland, perhaps as late as the
sixth century at Dalmeny (Guido 1978, 204), and Northumbria &g
Yeavering (Hope-Taylor 1977, fiq 8b, GL 1 and 2). It s therefore
lmposgible to date this bead precisely. Similarly, segmented beads
encloaing metal foil {no 10; 11lus 18; single segment) have a wide
date-range in Britain from the second to eixth century AD (Boon 1977;
Guildo 1978, 205-6), but even occur in Viking contexts ¢g at Kneep,
Lewis (J Cloge-Prooks in 11itt to LA; Boon 1977, 202), However,
silver-inglass examples, such as possibly at Kirk Hill, are rare in
camparison to gold-in—glass oxamples; the only othar British silver
example is fram the fourth-century cemetery at Lankhills, Wincheater
(Boon 1977, 199), Both these beads, although unstratified, could have
been contemporary with the burh.

Only one of the metal fragmenta, SF 046, illus 18, 14 was
diagnostic or capable of {llustration.

OOPFFER ALLDY

12 19, SF 020) KX 218, SP 035, Two Qlobules, rempectively 4 and
Jmm disseter.

13, K 219, S 033, Small unldentifiable fragment

14, mH 218, Sr 046, Ingate fram a bi-velve wmould (cf. Curle 192
{11 24, 4la).

1t M2
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Unless the stratiftcation has been digturbed, eg by rabtbits,this
plece of evidence for branze-working precedes even the Period 1 rear
pal {zade, and may beloma to the Romano-British activity indicated by

pottery ard glass

15, ¥ 119,
16. KB 119,
17. KW 205,

18, F¥H 101,
15. @ 113,

20, W 119,
KB 204,
KB 209,
K 213,
KN 214,
™ 210,
W 219,
i 221,

SF

SF

gr

R

%

sr
Sr

024.
0217.
03z,

012,
052.

Sub~circular, corroded, flat fragment,
Rivet.
Length of strip. ™arrow hlade,

Aporphous fragmant of lead, 13.4g.
Arorphous fragment of lead, 4.2q.

018 ad 5P 025: 1.5,

0262
022:
051:
0491
045

3.89.
3.5,
117. 244,
15.39.

9.“90

Sr 043 and 053t S.1q9.
SF 047 and 0541 22.69,

¥o8 2117 ware exanined and tdentified gedlogicaly by Dk M G
Jardine, Departmect of Gaology, Univetalty of Clasgow
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Unstratified, SF 057, Sub-cubical block <f red micovedus
sandstone, 16 x 24 x lémm., The cubo1d shape may be the result of
natural fracture, but its regulavity suggests the possitility that
this could e a Rman tessera.

KH 102, SF U5, FElongated rpebble of saxdstone, o possibly
redodened grevwacke; sut—triangular cross-sactior.  Although this
pebizle 13 suitable for a whetstorme, there 1s no evidence that 1t
was utilized. Length B0mm,

KH 133, SF 010, Possible small whetstone of micaceous sandstone .
The fairly regular long rectamgular shape and trapezoid cross-
section would be sultable for a whetstone, but 1t 1S not certain

that this was so utilized. Lergth SOmm

FH 107, SF 015 Exceptionally large whetstone. A toulder of

greywacke, coughly rectangular and of sub~triamgular cross-
sectlion, has I faces heavily utilized for whetting. Length 50mm
¥ 211, SF 017, Fragment of a whetatone of sarndstone of reddened
greywacke., An elonjated pebble has one face dished through use as
a whetstone, Length 130w

KH 103, SF 029. An elomgated pelile of sandstone, with sub-
triamgular Ccross—section, may possibly have been used as a
whetstone., Length Tlem

KM 121, SF 030. An 1irregular elongated pebble, probably of
sandstone rather than greywacke, has bDeen heavily used for
whetting on 2 ocut of 4 faces. Length l6Sam,

K 200 (ie¢ unstratified), SF 056, Thin, ovoid petible, probab'y of
reywacke, with one main face Cished throuch use a8 a whetstane,
Lerqgth 145am,

K 221, Sr 044, Small slab of sardstone, ane end covered in
9lacsy slag

Elongated pebbles of sardstone of greywecks, with two or thiee

flattish faces, suitable for use as vhetstones, ocOour naturally around
St Abb's Inad. Same of those found in the eacavations had cectainly
been utilised for whetting, but others recorded here show no definite




S gigne of this. None of them is in a context ecariiler than the raising
' Of the Period 2 clsy-and-turf campart,

Even the best of the Kirk Hill examples is less regular,

especially in cross-section, than whetstones reported from Early

Christian secular sites such as Dinas Powys (Alcock 1963, fig 35} or

. oonasteries guch as Reagk (Fanning 1981, fig 25), 6till less can they

. compare with the echist hones from Viking-influenced sites such as York

(MacGregor 1978, fig 22), It has not therefore been thought necessary
to illustrate what 18 no more than a group of utilized peboles.

DRESC.D STOMES (I1I0S 8)

Ten blocks of pink or pale yellow sandstone, all worked on one or
more surfaces, were recovered from KH 206, the toe for the Poeriod 2
rampart., These were photographed, and measured sketches were drawn:
the blocks were then re-buried at the lower end of the trench, Four
charscteristic examples are shown in the Suamary Report, illus 8.
' 30. Ko 206, Long thin block, roughly shaped, sub-rectangular slots
. cut in one face,perhaps for woodén tenona rather than lewis or

. cramp holes, '

. 31, KH 206, Deep, well-pquared block, with coarse axe marks on the
top and bottom surfaces:t finer tocling on the main face, where a
band 25mm wide has been left undreussd at the left edga.

32, KH 206, FRoughly rectangular block with shallow tooling,

33, X 206, Gxall reccangular block, with onarse tooling on the edge
onlys the main faces are natural fracture planes,

34=39. KH 206, The remaining dressed sandstone blocks are not

. conaldered worthy of {1lustration here., Measured sketches and

both colour and monochromse photographs have been deposited with
the site archives in the Glasgow Ur‘versity Acchives,
Several scholars have kindly examined photographs of the stoned,

but opinion is divided as to their date, T, Blagg ({n litt to IA) wees
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the tooling as ocongistent with that of Roman military stonemasons in
north Britain, Be suggests that a large building, possibly a fort, +as
the source, The stones, although much battered by reuse and
weathering, are only roughly dressed (quarry dressed as opposed to
tfinished) using a mason's point and probably an axe or adze, which was
the norm for drdimry walling stone, particularly on the Roman northern
frontier. Rodwell (in litt to LA) considers the whole collection, in
our present state of structural knowledge, to be more credible as Raman
work than as anything later. He has pointed out that the mortices on
stone 30 (11lus 8) are not lewis or cramp holes, nor the right shape to
b2 considered as mortices for masonry tenons. He assuzes rather that
they were intended to receive wooden tenons, and that the scale and
spacing 18 suggestive of studwork; the store could therefore be part
of a stylcuate or sill which carried a stud wall or ecreen. If this e
so thar one 18 faced with the dilemma of finding the place of origin of
this worked stone, because no Roman sites are known onywhere near St
Abb's Head. There is perhaps a case here for the existence of an
isolated Roman building, as yet undetected.

Examples of such isolated buildings which have yielded Roman
dressed masonry are known, for instance, at Faster Langlee (Stear 1966)
and on or near Ruberslaw (Curle 1905), both in Roxburghshire. Both
buildings were distant from Roman roads and are therefore more likely
to have been rural temples than military installations, If we were to
press for a nearby Roman source for the Kirk Hill stones, then again a
rural temple may be more likely than a signal-station, though a
lighthouse should not be excluded. On the other hand, some of the
dressed Dlocks at Rubsrslew still bear traces of mortar, reminding us
that a Roman masonry buflding is likely to have used lime mortur, The
absance of any vestiges of mortar ot Kirk Hill arguss therefore against
4 Roman soutce,

This tharefore brings us to the second possibility that the
dressed stones had been (ntsnded for the Anglisn monastery, Cramp (in

1 ¢ G2
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1itt to LA) can parallel the dressings on the masonry with examples
from the Northumbrian monagtery of Jarrow, but considers that such
dressing (which is only after all to quﬁrry level) has a wide date-
range,

In conclusion, there is nnthing about the tooling and finish of
these stones which ) D= regarded as being distinctive of-a particular
period. They do ind.co ocar comparison with Roman exampleg, but bear
no traces of wortar ae evidence of such a prizary use. On the other
har? the curpus of dated Anglo-Saxon masonry (as opposed to sculpture)
is negligible, The time most likely for guch stone to bo available
(particularly in a quarry-dressed state) 'would be during the
congtruction of the Anglo-Saxon monastery itself,

DISQERIM GF riMs

Owing to extenaive rabbit burrowing of the rampart it im,
unfortunately, impogaible to place such reliance on the stratigraphy,
even of those finds which appear to be stratified. There was, howsver,
one closely stratified find, a sherd of Gazian (either » Dragendorff 33
cup or a Dragendorff 18/31 platter; no 6). A date in the mecond
cantury AD 1is likely for thie sherd. At best, however, it only
provides us with a tormimu-poct quem for Period 2, under whose tos of
Aressed stonas (206) it lay; it is probably residual from earlier
asgricultural activity on the hill, _

The same inference applies to the two sherds of prehistorio
pottery (nos 2 and 4), although they could of courss be representative
of prehistorio occupation on the hill,

The residusl Roman pottery, possible Roman glass beads, the
earlier £inds of a Romano-British ris~sherd and glass bangle (sse
sbove) sand the reused quarry dressed sasonry (206) of possible Roman
date, might all be considersd to iwply a Romen presence on the hill o
in ghe vipinity, This might have been in the form of cultivation
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represented by the horizon 213/221/122, and perhape related to one of
the numerous enclosed settlesents or farmgteads which are wall known
around Coldingham (11lus 2, 11y ASM Berwicks ites& 185, 189, 250, 251,
254, 263-6, 274). The masonry itself may suggest a temple or lighthouse.

The glass beads are asg likely to balong to the sixth or later
centuries and could thus b¢ contemporary with the proposed burh, or
even the monastery (to which the quarry dressed magonry could algo
reasonably belong). There were, however, no finds peculiar to the
Anglo-Saxon perlod,

There had obviously heen some medieval agricultural activity on
the hill as witregs the rig and furrow marke (illus 15) and this would
account for the occasianal sherd of later medieval pottery.

DISCUSSTON (O KIRK MI1L

The Period 1 palisades are either two successive single ones nr a

unitary double palisade. Parallels for the latter can be found in tha

Great Enclosure at Yeavering (Hope-Taylor 19,7, phase IV, fig 25) and

its ancestors, such as Harehope II (Feachen 1960, fig 4; Alcock 1979,
& 136). At Harehope the lack of Roman material, and the continuity
betwean phases ! and 11 have besn considered as holding the building

and occupation of the couble palisades to the first century AD at the

iatest (Peacher 1960, 191). Hope-Taylor (1977, 208), however, would

have liked to have been ‘ablo to see its origins in a Roman military

work, in which case it might have ben third or fourth century, At

Yeavering itself the Great Enclosure came into precise stratigraphical

relationship with post-Ronan structures, otherwise it too would have

besn sscribed to the pre-Romen period ({bid), It is, howmever, dated by

the excavator to betwesn £,230 and %00 AD (jbid, 209), Although the

suggested double palisads at Kirk Nill was not so wide as either the

Yeavering or Narehope examples (g, %a in compacrison to g,0.4 and 7.0m

ronpactively) it doss Lnﬂnd W {0 be 141 the besic British ttldltioq
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of palisaded forte, a tradition which either survived through the Roman
periocd or was revived after it. In common with Harehope, paligade A
xay have been dug into a specialy constructed low mound (216, 218, 1243
Peachem 1960, fig 7); however, the suggestion that this more gtony
s80il possibly marke a reversion to grassland before the erection of a
timber palisade cannot be precluded.

Of course, the palisaded enclosure at Kirk Hill was not
necessarily a double one. The evidence, tenucus as it is from such a
narrow trench, suggests that the front palisade, B, which was hbraced,
had decayed in situ, whilst the rear unbraced palisade, A, had
obviocusly been burnt. The two palisades differ also in constructional
teachniques. Palisade B had a shallower trench than palisade A, and its
posts had been packed with stones rather than with gravelly scil.
Given the different constructional techniques and different fates of
these two timber palisades, it seems likely that the timber palisade
stage, Period 1, consisted of two successive timbyr palisades.

There are several radiocarbon dates from palisade A (se@ above).
The tvo mixed charcoal samples averaged 1275 + 85 bp at the two-sigma
level (GU 1360 and 1389) on che 5568 half-1{fe, This had previously
been calibrated by Alcock (Alcock and Alcock 1981) to 630 -~ 770 AD
using Clack's 1975 curve, Calibcation using more tecent tables (Xlein
at al 1982) gives a wider date bracket of 590-900 AD at the tro-sigms
(i 95% osrtainty) level, and slightly alters sny {nferenca- which can
b made. Thare is therefore a 19120 chance that palisade A was not
built befors 590 AD., Bafore this date is accapted too sariously,
however, it should be noted that the Belfast nak chronology shows that
this is & period of marked fluctuations In the M¢ curve, Por a later
dating limit we may turn to wider considecations. %irk Hill is now the
bast candidate for the p.ro-'ionutic fort implied by the name
Col0Apeaburg, On the sssumption that an Aaglo-Saxon might have called a
single or double palissded fort w hurh (Beds's use of yrba hare is
sisply his trdnslation of bythy Cawpbell 1979s). On this basis,
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sither or both of the palicades would have been in existence before
Asbie founded, or at least presided over, the monastery. (There i8 mo
historical evidence for the date of this, but see below for a possible
chranology) .

It 1s indeed feasible, on the evidence of the radiocarbon dates,
that the burned palisade A formed the initial enclosure of the
monsstery, subsequently to be replaced by the substantial turf and clay
bank. At Jona, an initial slight ditch was later replaced Ly a massive
bank and ditch (Barber 1981, 356}, On this analogy, the community at
Colodaesburg may originally have lacked the resources, whether of money
or manpower, needed to build the major earthwork of Period 25 they may
therefore huve had to be content with a palisaded enclosure,

O zhe other hand, If palisade A had been standing as a pre-
monastic secular defence when the monastery was founded, or had been
srected immediately thereafter as the original monastic enclosure, it
seenms likely that its timber would have been salvaged, rather than
burned off, before the Period 2 rampart was built., If this argumnt {s
acceptad, then it is reasonable to ses both palisades, whether
ssparately or as s pair, as pre-monastic {n date, Indeed, we might
infer that they were alrsady too decayed to salvage at the beginning cf
Period 2, If we think of them as two successive works, then it {s not
possible to establish whioh is the earlier,

1t is of some (nterest to ask whether the palisadsd fort was
Anglisn or British, "Towards the end of the sixth century the Anglian
kirgdom of Bernicia was expanding undar Aethelfrith, and by AD 638 its
powera had extended to the Picrth of Porth, with the capture of Etin
(Xdinburgh), Was Colodpesburg therefore a British refuge built during
the yeats of Anglian advance (as the non-Anglian nams might suggest);
or sn Angliasn forcificakion constructed in the same period, wut by
subsecrvient Aritons? As long a0 s 1936 Wyres (Collingwood and Myres
1936, 421~2) considermnd gt Abb's and mamburgh as 'impregnable
fortresses’, acting as Anglian bases in the militacry domination of
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Northumberland, The rear palisade at Kirk Hill had certainly been
burned and it may be that the burning reflects military sctivity during
the Anglian advance. Alcock (198la) notes the destruction of other
Early Historic fortifications in Scotland by burning.

As an aside, the spread of Anglian domination in Northumbria must
have same bearing on when the monastery at Kirk Hill was established,
A foundation date before AD 630 may seem unlikely since it was only
then that Edinburgh and the Lothians came under Anglian control,
Although there is no documentacy evidence to back the proposal that
Aspbe founded Colodassburg, it would seem a reasonable assmption, In
AD 643 Ashbe's brother, Oewy, succesded to the kingdom of Bernicia, and
he would therefora have been ideally placed to endow his sister with
the land upon which to found & monastic establishment. The fort
represented by Palisade A, if antecedent to the monastery, could
therefore be dated provieionally in the rango AD 550-643,

whather palisade A was pre-morastic or monastic in date, it cannot
have been long after its destruction that a turf rampart, secondarily
fuced with a sizeable stone revetmsnt, was erected. This is perfectly
plausible as the vallum monasterii of St Asbbe's house, although the
possibilities that it is sarlier or even drastically later cannot be
wholly excluded., An immediaste parallel would be the large bank and
ditch at Glastonbuiy (Cramp 1976, 244), which pcesumably surroundsd the
wonastery therey {ts bank was approximately the same wldth at its basa
as that an Kirk Hill (o ™m).

The roplacesent of the palisads or palisades by a clay and turt
rempart inevitably reculls the Anglo-Saxon Chronigle account (sa 547)
of 1da building Bamburgh 'which vas first enclosed with a hedge and
aftacwards with a wall', Aloock formerly argued that the AJC wes here
using a late source, which had been influenced by experience of the
building history of Late Saxon pythy, whete the original tirher
rovetasnts were later replsced by stone walls (i8dla), Radford (1978)
describes the evidence for this st seversl pythy (ncluding Wecetord
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and Cricklade, It is now necessary to reconsider this view, If the
hedge at Barburgh was in fact a palisade, may not this alao have been
built by the Britons some decades earlier than phase 1D at Kirk Hill?
Pertinent to this is the British name for Bamburgh, Dinguaroy, 9iven in
the Historia Brittonym the din- element clearly implying a fort,

At some ntage, undoubtedly during the short life-time of the
monastery, it was ngceasary to repair the front of the turf rampart
with a boulder wall, the lower courses of which were still extant upon
excavation, At a later stage a line of boulders was inserted into tiwo
crest of the rmepatt, but thim was probably a field wall.

The internal features would appear tO belong to at least two
phases {see above), It is, however, impossible to ascribe the majority
of them to any of the rampart phases. One feature, 107, a stone
tooting for a timber sill, poat-dates the bullding of the “-riod 2
rampart, but by how long a period is uncertain,

QCLIS1OS

Tha excavations proved that Rampart Hall, the site traditionally
associated with Gt Astbe's monastery of Colodasahyry, was more probably
8 late-medieval defended promontory refuge, The preferred candidate
for Colodagaburg {o now Kirk Hill, Haere, three, and possibly fiva,
phaned of fortification were noted, commencing with a pali{sade fort of
British dusign, presumably 'Colod's fort or town'. This conmimted of
twe sitgly palisaded enclosures, the upper one, A, commencing no
earlier than ¢ AD 5% on the basis of radicoarbon dutes, It was
succeeded by a olay and turf rampart resting an a stone tos, probably
the vallye monagterii of Asbbe's monastery, later strenjthened at the
front with a stons revetment. A probeble field wall later followed the
ceest of the campart, The interior of the enclosure wis not

investigated axtensively, but sone evidance was found for ranges of
buildings perallel to the rampart; and traces of mAsoncy buildings amd
enclosures ate visible on the ground, If the Ldeatif’cation of Kick
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PBetula {birch)
gorylus (hamel)

Quercus (oak)

galix (willow)

Hill as Colodaesburq is correct, then a major Northumbrian monastery,

APPENDIX 14

unencuabyred by numercus later structures, lies open for exploration.

CERUOAL TDENTTFICATIONS BY CWILIA A DICKSON

Charcoal collected from KH 205 for radiccarbon agasy was
identified as followe

c 1.649, from stem or branch diam ¢ 20-4(mm

C 72g, 'rom stem or branch, two pleces with bark,
age 5-10 years, diam C 10~20mm,

¢ 31,29, from stem or branch and large: timber,
diam ¢ 15-200me, 1 piece, Cc 15mm, appears to be
frtom & atem of branch, the other plecss could have
derived from ohe plecs of timber or fromsmall (C
20-40me) and larger timber., Due to distortion in
qromth and firing not many of tha plecas of larger
diamster could be measured.

No fungal hyphas wete noted and there was no
evidence seen of differential presscvation to
uggest that the wood wes rotten,
c 1,39, from timber c 1{0wm + dimm,

Unidentified ssall fragmenta c 178.43.
Weaignt 18 of damp charcoal,






